Regular Article - Theoretical Physics



Complexity growth of massive black hole with a probe string

Yu-Ting Zhou^{1,2,a}, Xiao-Mei Kuang^{2,3,b}, Jian-Pin Wu^{2,3,c}

¹ College of Mathematics and Science, Yangzhou University, Yangzhou 225009, China

² Center for Gravitation and Cosmology, College of Physical Science and Technology, Yangzhou University, Yangzhou 225009, China

³ School of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai 200240, China

Received: 23 July 2021 / Accepted: 18 August 2021 / Published online: 24 August 2021 \circledcirc The Author(s) 2021

Abstract In this work, we study the computational complexity of massive gravity theory via the "Complexity = Action" conjecture. Our system contains a particle moving on the boundary of the black hole spacetime. It is dual to inserting a fundamental string in the bulk background. Then this string would contribute a Nambu–Goto term, such that the total action is composed of the Einstein–Hilbert term, Nambu–Goto term and the boundary term. We shall investigate the time development of this system, and mainly discuss the features of the Nambu–Goto term affected by the graviton mass and the horizon curvature in different dimensions. Our study could contribute interesting properties of complexity.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Massive gravity and the Nambu–Goto action	2
	2.1 Review of massive black hole	2
	2.2 Nambu–Goto action	3
3	Three dimensional case	4
	3.1 BTZ black hole	4
	3.2 Massive BTZ black hole	4
4	Higher dimensional case	5
	4.1 AdS black hole	5
	4.2 Massive AdS black hole	7
5	Summary	8
R	eferences	9

1 Introduction

Along with the development of fundamental physics and information theory, some very remarkable tools were proposed to reveal the mystery of nature. One of them is in the areas of general relativity and quantum field theory. In 1990s, the AdS/CFT duality which connects the gravity theory and its boundary conformal field theory was proposed [1-3] and it has opened a new avenue for us to investigate the gravity in the framework of holography.

Thanks to holography, the entanglement entropy (EE), which measures the degrees of freedom in a strongly coupled system originally, has a holographic description, stating that the EE for a subregion on the dual boundary is proportional to the minimal Hubeny-Rangamani-Takayanagi surface in the bulk geometry [4, 5]. The other significant concept in theoretical physics is the computational complexity which originally comes from the quantum information theory [6-12]. The computational complexity measures the difficulty of turning a quantum state into another state. However, from the side of the field theory, it is extremely difficult to evaluate it when the degrees of freedom of the system becomes large. It is also not clear on how to precisely define the initial state and reference state. Though there are plenty of works on this theme from quantum field theory [13-17] as well as works on geometric way to define the complexity [18-24], a well-defined theory of complexity is still unknown.

On the other hand, in gravity side, only considering the outside properties of black hole is not enough for us to understand the interior black hole. Susskind et al. suggested that the computational complexity can measure the size of wormhole which anchored at the two sides of boundary times of AdS black hole [25–29]. Accordingly, there are two conjectures have emerged. One is "Complexity=Volume"(CV) conjecture. *V* denotes the volume of Einstein–Rosen (ER) bridge that connects the two side of boundary times of AdS black hole. The other reliable candidate proposal is the "Complexity=Action" (CA) conjecture. *A* denotes the classical action of a spacetime region which was enclosed by the bulk Cauchy slice that anchored at the boundaries, and this domain was also called "Wheeler–Dewitt patch" [30, 31].

^a e-mail: constaantine@163.com

^be-mail: xmeikuang@yzu.edu.cn (corresponding author)

^ce-mail: jianpinwu@yzu.edu.cn

Especially, the application of CA conjecture have been extensively studied in [32-53] and therein. However, the aforementioned work focused on the stationary system. An important direction is to generalize the CA conjecture into a time-dependent process such as a system moved by a drag force, which was motivated by the work of jet-quenching phenomena in ion collisions where the system is moved by a drag force [54]. When a charged particle passes through a quarkgluon plasma, it would lose energy because of the effect of shear viscosity. Thus, the most useful method to analyze this dissipative system is to use a probe. Many important work were inspired by this clue. For instance, in [55] the growth of complexity with the probe brane was studied. In [56] the nonlocal operator was studied in BTZ black hole. More recently, Nagasaki investigated the complexity of AdS₅ black hole via CA by inserting a probe string which moves on a circle in the spacial part of the AdS spacetime [57]. This study was also extended in rotating black holes [58,59] and the black holes in Horndeski gravity [60,61].

In this work, we also use this method and investigate the complexity growth in massive gravity with a probe string. Massive gravity theory is a theory beyond Einstein theory of gravity where the graviton is massless. Recently, significant progress has been made towards constructing massive gravity theories that avoid instability, see for example [62–68]. More importantly, it was addressed in [69] that the massive terms in the gravitational action break the diffeomorphism symmetry in the bulk, which corresponds to momentum dissipation in the dual boundary field theory. Moreover, the complexity growth for the stationary massive black hole has been studied in [32,33], in which the complexity growth stems from the contribution from Einstein–Hilbert action and the boundary term.

The aim of this work is to study the effect of probe string on the complexity growth in massive gravity. This means that we shall consider a Wilson line operator in the theory, which is dual to a dynamical system. The novelty of this work is that the non-local operator could correspond to a particle moving on the boundary gauge theory with momentum relaxation. We shall focus on this effect of Wilson line operator on the Nambu–Goto action. In details, we shall study the influence of horizon curvatures, the graviton mass and the dimension of spacetime on the velocity dependent complexity growth, which is dual to Nambu–Goto action growth in massive black hole with a probe string.

This paper is organized as follows. In Sect. 2 we briefly review the massive gravity and then derive the Nambu–Goto action in massive gravity with probe string. In Sects. 3 and 4, we investigate the Nambu–Goto action growth in the three and higher dimensional gravity, respectively. We analyze the effect of horizon curvature and graviton mass on the features of the Nambu–Goto action growth. We summarize in Sect. 5. We shall use natural units with $G = \hbar = c = 1$.

2 Massive gravity and the Nambu–Goto action

2.1 Review of massive black hole

We consider (n + 2)-dimensional action of massive gravity [70,71],

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^{n+2}x \sqrt{-g} \left[R + \frac{n(n+1)}{l^2} + m^2 \sum_{i}^{4} c_i \mathscr{U}_i(g, f) \right],$$
(1)

where *R* is the scalar curvature, *l* is the AdS radius and *f* is a fixed symmetric tensor. In addition, c_i is constant and \mathcal{U}_i is the symmetric polynomial of the eigenvalue of the $(n + 2) \times (n + 2)$ matrix $\mathcal{K}_{\nu}^{\mu} = \sqrt{g^{\mu\alpha} f_{\alpha\nu}}$ which can be written as follows

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{U}_{1} &= [\mathscr{K}], \qquad \mathscr{U}_{2} = [\mathscr{K}]^{2} - \left[\mathscr{K}^{2}\right], \\ \mathscr{U}_{3} &= [\mathscr{K}]^{3} - 3\left[\mathscr{K}\right]\left[\mathscr{K}^{2}\right] + 2\left[\mathscr{K}^{3}\right], \\ \mathscr{U}_{4} &= [\mathscr{K}]^{4} - 6\left[\mathscr{K}^{2}\right][\mathscr{K}]^{2} + 8\left[\mathscr{K}^{3}\right][\mathscr{K}] \\ &+ 3\left[\mathscr{K}^{2}\right]^{2} - 6\left[\mathscr{K}^{4}\right], \end{aligned}$$
(2)

where $[\mathscr{K}] = \mathscr{K}^{\mu}_{\mu}$ and the square root in \mathscr{K} can be interpreted as $(\sqrt{\mathscr{K}})^{\nu}_{\ \nu} (\sqrt{\mathscr{K}})^{\nu}_{\ \lambda} = \mathscr{K}^{\mu}_{\ \lambda}$. As known that the presence of impurities in realistic materials leads that the momentum is not conserved, so that the system gives finite DC conductivity. Modeling systems via translationally invariant quantum field theories always comes across problems unless the effects of momentum dissipation is incorporated. In holographic framework, several models have been proposed to involve momentum dissipation, which brings in finite DC conductivity. Massive gravity is a completive candidate in which the momentum dissipation is involved, and it is an effective bulk theory that does not conserve momentum without borrowing additional fields. In the action (1), the last terms represent massive potentials associated with the graviton mass which breaks the diffeomorphism invariance in the bulk, which produces momentum relaxation in the dual boundary theory.

Variating the action, we can obtain the equations of motion

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} R g_{\mu\nu} - \frac{n(n+1)}{2l^2} g_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \left(F_{\mu\sigma} F_{\nu}^{\sigma} - \frac{1}{4} g_{\mu\nu} F^2 \right) + m^2 \chi_{\mu\nu} = 0,$$
(3)

where

$$\chi_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{c_1}{2} \left(\mathscr{U}_1 g_{\mu\nu} - \mathscr{K}_{\mu\nu} \right) - \frac{c_2}{2} \left(\mathscr{U}_2 g_{\mu\nu} - 2\mathscr{U}_1 \mathscr{K}_{\mu\nu} + 2\mathscr{K}_{\mu\nu}^2 \right) - \frac{c_3}{2} \left(\mathscr{U}_3 g_{\mu\nu} - 3\mathscr{U}_2 \mathscr{K}_{\mu\nu} \right) + 6\mathscr{U}_1 \mathscr{K}_{\mu\nu}^2 - 6\mathscr{K}_{\mu\nu}^3 \right) - \frac{c_4}{2} \left(\mathscr{U}_4 g_{\mu\nu} - 4\mathscr{U}_3 \mathscr{K}_{\mu\nu} \right)$$

$$+ 12 \mathscr{U}_2 \mathscr{K}_{\mu\nu}^2 - 24 \mathscr{U}_1 \mathscr{K}_{\mu\nu}^3 + 24 \mathscr{K}_{\mu\nu}^4 \right)$$
(4)

The static black hole solution of the above action yields

$$ds^{2} = -f(r)dt^{2} + f^{-1}(r)dr^{2} + r^{2}h_{ij}dx^{i}dx^{j}, \quad i,$$

$$j = 1, 2, 3, \dots, n,$$
(5)

where $h_{ij}dx^i dx^j$ is a line element of Einstein space with constant curvature n(n-1)k and k = 1, 0, -1 corresponds to a spherical, Ricci flat, and hyperbolic horizon for black hole. We follow the ansatz in [71] and set the reference metric $f_{\mu\nu} = diag(0, 0, c_0^2 h_{ij})$. Then \mathcal{U}_i can be computed as

$$\begin{aligned} &\mathcal{U}_1 = nc_0/r, \quad \mathcal{U}_2 = n(n-1)c_0^2/r^2, \\ &\mathcal{U}_3 = n(n-1)(n-2)c_0^3/r^3, \\ &\mathcal{U}_4 = n(n-1)(n-2)(n-3)c_0^4/r^4. \end{aligned}$$
(6)

Putting them back to the Einstein equation, we have the metric function f(r)

$$f(r) = k + \frac{r^2}{l^2} - \frac{m_0}{r^{n-1}} + \frac{c_0 c_1 m^2}{n} r + c_0^2 c_2 m^2 + \frac{(n-1)c_0^3 c_3 m^2}{r} + \frac{(n-1)(n-2)c_0^4 c_4 m^2}{r^2},$$
(7)

where the integral constant m_0 is the black hole mass parameter.

2.2 Nambu-Goto action

Following the approach in [57,58], we consider a Wilson line operator in the spacetime by inserting a fundamental string in the massive gravity. This corresponds to a test particle moving on the boundary gauge theory, which is described by a non-local operator. Inserting the Wilson loop is described by adding a Nambu–Goto (NG) term, so the total action consists of the Einstein–Hilbert term, the Nambu–Goto term and the boundary term. Since the contribution of Einstein–Hilbert action and boundary term to the complexity growth in massive black hole has been studied in [32,33], here we shall investigate the effect of the Nambu–Goto action.

Setup To this end, we assume that a probe string moves in a subspace with different topologies. Then the induced metric was $h_{ij}dx^i dx^j = d\phi^2$. We take the worldsheet parameter as

$$t = \tau$$
 , $r = \sigma$, $\phi = v\tau + \xi(\sigma)$. (8)

where v denotes the velocity of a string relative to the black hole. For simplicity, we will set l=1, then the induced metric is

$$ds_{n+2(ind)}^{2} = (-f(\sigma) + \sigma^{2}v^{2})d\tau^{2} + \left(\frac{1}{f(\sigma)} + \sigma^{2}\xi'(\sigma)\right)d\sigma^{2} + 2\sigma^{2}v\xi'd\tau d\sigma,$$

$$f(\sigma) = k + \sigma^{2} - \frac{m_{0}}{\sigma^{n-1}} + \frac{c_{0}c_{1}m^{2}}{n}\sigma + c_{0}^{2}c_{2}m^{2} + \frac{(n-1)c_{0}^{2}c_{3}m^{2}}{\sigma} + \frac{(n-1)(n-2)c_{0}^{4}c_{4}m^{2}}{\sigma^{2}}.$$

(9)

The NG action is achieved by integrating over the WDW patch,

$$\frac{dS_{NG}}{dt} = T_s \int_0^{r_h} d\sigma \sqrt{-g_{ind}(\sigma)}$$
$$= T_s \int_0^{r_h} d\sigma \sqrt{1 - \frac{v^2 \sigma^2}{f(\sigma)} + \sigma^2 f(\sigma) \xi'(\sigma)^2} \qquad (10)$$
$$\equiv \int_0^{r_h} d\sigma \mathscr{L}_{n+2}$$

where the horizon r_h is determined by $f(r_h) = 0$, and T_s is the tension of fundamental string.

Varying the above 'action', we obtain the equation of motion for $\boldsymbol{\xi}$

$$\frac{d}{d\sigma} \left(\frac{\sigma^2 f(\sigma) \xi'(\sigma)}{\sqrt{1 - v^2 \sigma^2 / f(\sigma) + \sigma^2 f(\sigma) \xi'(\sigma)^2}} \right) = 0, \qquad (11)$$

from which we could define the constant c_{ξ} as

$$c_{\xi} \equiv \frac{\sigma^2 f(\sigma)\xi'(\sigma)}{\sqrt{1 - v^2 \sigma^2 / f(\sigma) + \sigma^2 f(\sigma)\xi'(\sigma)^2}}.$$
(12)

Subsequently, ξ' can be solved by

$$\xi'(\sigma) = \frac{c_{\xi}}{\sigma f(\sigma)} \sqrt{\frac{f(\sigma) - v^2 \sigma^2}{\sigma^2 f(\sigma) - c_{\xi}^2}}.$$
(13)

This expression must give real values, so the denominator and numerator in the square root should coincidentally be positive,negative or zero. It is noted that we shall set $c_0 = c_1 = c_2 = c_3 = c_4 = 1$ without loss of generality. Then regarding the numerator, $f(\sigma) - v^2 \sigma^2$, as a function of σ , we find it is a monotonically increasing function and has a negative value for $\sigma = 0$. Therefore, there is only one solution $\sigma = \sigma_H$ to $f(\sigma) - v^2 \sigma^2 = 0$. Subsequently, the constant c_{ξ} is determined by $\sigma_H^2 f(\sigma_H) - c_{\xi}^2 = 0$ as

$$c_{\xi} = v \sigma_H^2. \tag{14}$$

Inserting the expressions (9), (13) and (14) into (10), we could rewrite the NG action as

Fig. 1 Left: action growth v.s. string velocity in BTZ black hole for different m_0 . Right: action growth v.s. black hole mass in BTZ black hole for different string velocities



3.5

3.0

2.5

2.0 2.0 1.5 1.5

1.0 0.5

0.0

-1.0

-0.5

(15)

In the following we shall study the effect of horizon curvature and the graviton mass on the NG action in different dimensions.

3 Three dimensional case

For n = 1, i.e., the 3-dimensional massive gravity, the terms related with c_2 , c_3 , and c_4 in (15) vanish, and the NG action would reduce to

$$\frac{1}{T_s} \frac{dS_{NG}}{dt} = \int_0^{r_h} d\sigma \sqrt{\frac{\sigma^4 - \sigma^2 m_0 + c_0 c_1 m^2 \sigma^3 - v^2 \sigma^4}{\sigma^4 - \sigma^2 m_0 + c_0 c_1 m^2 \sigma^3 - v^2 \sigma_H^4}},$$
(16)

where $r_h = \frac{-c_0c_1m^2 + \sqrt{c_0^2c_1^2m^4 + 4m_0}}{2}$ and $\sigma_H = \frac{-c_0c_1m^2 + \sqrt{c_0^2c_1^2m^4 + 4(1-v^2)m_0}}{2(1-v^2)}$. This integral for all parameter

ranges can be directly worked out by numeric. We first turn off the graviton mass and consider the static BTZ black hole, and then we move onto the massive BTZ case. The numerical results and some analytical study are shown as follows.

3.1 BTZ black hole

First we set the graviton mass as m = 0 and study the effect of BTZ black hole mass on the NG action. The explicit behaviors with different parameters are plotted in Fig. 1. In the left plot we show the relation between action growth and string velocity with different black hole masses. We see that the complexity growth takes the maximum value when the string is stationary, and as the string moves faster, the action growth becomes smaller. Moreover, the peak value of action growth is larger for larger black hole mass. These features are similar

6

8

10



as the observe for static black holes [57,58]. Additionally, the action growth will vanish as the velocity approaches to light speed, which was also observed in the rotating BTZ black holes [58] even though the peak is shifted.

The right plot of Fig. 1 shows the relation between action growth and black hole mass with different string velocities. In this case, the faster string gives the smaller action growth, which is consistent with that in the left plot. It behaves as a monotonically increasing function of the black hole mass, which is similar to the observes in rotating BTZ black hole [57]. A possible interpretation is that a lager system may have larger information and so it is more complex.

The above numerical results can be analytically confirmed. With tricks, the growth of NG action (16) could be analytically integrated as

$$\frac{1}{T_s} \frac{dS_{NG}}{dt} = \sqrt{m_0} - |v|\sqrt{m_0},$$
(17)

which depends on the black hole mass and string velocity in a simple way. It indicates that with fixed m_0 , the action growth is maximum when the string is stationary with v = 0 and the maximal value is $\sqrt{m_0}$. As |v| increases, it decreases and could vanish when the speed approaches to the light speed with |v| = 1. Moreover, the action growth could increase monotonously as m_0 when v is fixed.

3.2 Massive BTZ black hole

Then we turn on the graviton mass and study its effect on the NG action growth. So we fix the black hole mass as $m_0 = 2$. The results are shown in Fig. 2.

In left plot of Fig. 2, we show the relation between action growth and string velocity for massive black hole. As usual, the maximal complexity growth appears when the string velocity is equal to zero for different m. The interesting point is that the maximal value in massive BTZ black hole is smaller than that in BTZ black hole, and as the graviton mass increases, the maximal value becomes smaller. For all chosen m, as the string moves faster, the action growth becomes smaller. Moreover, comparing to the BTZ case, the action growth will not vanish when the string moves with light speed. In addition, It is also obvious that the effect of m on the action growth depends on the velocity.





1.2

1.0

Fig. 3 Action growth v.s. graviton mass in massive BTZ black hole. Here we fix the black hole mass $m_0 = 2$ and $v \sim 1$

Then in the right plot of Fig. 2, we present the relation between action growth and the graviton mass. We focus on the vicinity of the light speed. In all cases, as m increases, the action growth increases into a peak and then decreases, i.e., it is not a monotonically increasing function. Moreover, the velocity dependence is significant for small graviton mass, but it seems to be slight for large m, which is also explicit in the inserted plot. Thus, on the vicinity of the light speed, the graviton mass suppresses the velocity dependence of the action growth, which is very different from the effect of black hole mass that enhances it in all cases as studied in [57,58].

It is noted that in this case, it is difficult to integrate the action (16) analytically. However, we could estimate the behavior in some limit regimes to further check the numerical analysis. In the limit $v \rightarrow 0$, we can integrate (16) as

$$\frac{1}{T_s} \frac{dS_{NG}}{dt} \bigg|_{v=0} = \frac{\sqrt{m^4 + 4m_0} - m^2}{2},$$
(18)

which is a monotone decreasing function of positive m. So the value of the action growth at v = 0 is smaller as the graviton mass increases, which is consistent with that shown in the left plot of Fig. 2.

In the speed light limit with $v \rightarrow 1$, a semi-analytic integration is obtained as



which is shown in Fig. 3. It shows that in this limit, as m increases, the action growth increases into a peak and then decreases, i.e., it is not a monotonic function, which matches the numerical study shown in the right plot of Fig. 2.

4 Higher dimensional case

When the dimension is higher than three, the black hole horizon could have hyperbolic, plane and spherical topologies corresponding to the horizon curvatures k = -1, 0 and 1, respectively. In higher dimensions, the exact integration results of (15) is difficult, so we shall numerically integrate it in different dimensions and study the effect the horizon curvature and graviton mass on the NG action growth.

4.1 AdS black hole

We first study the effect of horizon curvature. So we focus on the AdS black hole by setting the graviton mass as m = 0.

The velocity dependence and black hole mass dependence in four dimensional case are shown in Fig. 4. In the left plot with the black hole mass $m_0 = 2$, the action growth for k = 1 reproduces the curve with black hole mass M = 1 in Fig. 1 of [58]. In all cases, the maximal value appears when the string does not move, and as the velocity increases, the action growth decreases. It is obvious that the maximal values in the case with k = -1 is the largest while it is larger in k = 0 than in k = 1 case. This phenomena can be understood in an analytical way. In the limit $v \rightarrow 0$, the integration (15) with four dimension (n = 2) is

$$\frac{1}{T_s}\frac{dS_{NG}}{dt} = r_h.$$
(20)

Then recalling the event horizon satisfying $f(r_h) = 0$, which gives us

$$k = \frac{m_0}{r_h} - r_h^2 - m^2 \left(\frac{r_h}{2} + 1\right).$$
 (21)



Fig. 5 Action growth v.s. string velocity for AdS black hole. From left to right, the dimension is 5, 6 and 10. In all cases, we have set the black hole mass $m_0 = 2$



Fig. 6 Action growth v.s. black hole mass from left to right, the dimension is 5, 6 and 10. In all cases, we have set the m = 0, v = 0.99

It is obvious that for AdS case with m = 0 and $m_0 = 2$, k decreases as r_h increases, which indicates that k = -1 corresponds to largest r_h , so does the largest action growth while k = 1 corresponds to the smallest action growth. It is easy to see that the conclusion is also hold in massive gravity with $m \neq 0$, which will match the numerical results as we will see soon. Noted that similar analysis could also be done in higher dimension cases.

But the action growth decays fastest when k = -1. As the string velocity increases, there exists a intersection and the effect of k becomes opposite to that in small velocity. Another notable feature is that for k = 0 and k = -1, the action growth with light speed goes to zero, namely the contribution from NG action disappears such that the effect of string is zero in these cases. This phenomena is in contrast to the nonzero value for k = 1. As we increase the dimension (see Fig. 5 for 5D, 6D and 10D cases), the action growth from left to right becomes gentler and gentler as usual, and the intersection occurs at larger velocity. Moreover, similar as k = 1, the action growth near light speed for k = 0 also increases to be

nonzero for higher dimensions, while for k = -1, it keeps zero.

In the right plot of Fig. 4, we show how the action growth depends on the black hole mass near the light speed. Again the blue curve for k = 1 reproduces the curve with the same velocity in Fig. 1 of [58], and there exists a peak at small black hole mass. In a contrast, it behaves as a monotonically increasing function of the black hole mass for k = -1 and k = 0. Moreover, it shows that in the vicinity of light speed, the action growth for k = 1 is the largest, which is consistent with that in the left plot.

As the dimension increases (see Fig. 6 for 5*D*, 6*D* and 10*D* cases), the peak for k = 1 could disappear and the black hole mass dependence becomes monotonically increasing function, which reproduces the outcome of [58]. Moreover, it also shows that as the dimension increases, the gap between k = 0 and k = -1 is wider while the gap between k = 0 and k = -1 is narrower. Unfortunately, it is difficult to find analytical insight of the features in the limit $v \rightarrow 1$ even in four dimensional case.



Fig. 7 Action growth v.s. string velocity for massive AdS_4 black hole with $m_0 = 2$. From left to right, the horizon curvature is k = -1, k = 0 and k = 1, respectively



Fig. 8 Action growth v.s. graviton mass for massive AdS₄ black hole with $m_0 = 2$. From left to right, the horizon curvature is k = -1, k = 0 and k = 1, respectively



Fig. 9 Action growth for massive AdS₄ black hole. Left: action growth v.s. string velocity with m = 0.5. Right: action growth v.s. graviton mass with v = 0.96. Here we have set black hole mass $m_0 = 2$

4.2 Massive AdS black hole

Then, we turn on m to study the effect of the graviton mass and horizon curvature.

We first study in detail the effect of graviton mass on the string velocity dependence as well as graviton mass dependence in the vicinity of light speed. We show the results for four dimensional case in Figs. 7 and 8, respectively. In all plots of Fig. 7, larger *m* gives the lower maximal values of action growth. This feature could be expected from (20) in $v \rightarrow 0$ limit if we reform (21) as $m^2 = (m_0/r_h - r_h^2 - k)/(r_h/2 + 1)$, which indicates that with fixed m_0 and *k*, larger *m* corresponds to smaller r_h . There exists a intersection where the effect of *m* on the string velocity dependence will change. This observe is consistent with that

in three dimensional case (see Fig. 2), even though here the curves are more gentler.

Figure 8 shows the m dependence of action growth in the vicinity of light speed. In all cases, the smaller string velocity corresponds to larger action growth when the graviton mass is small. As the increase of m, it approaches to a maximal value and then decreases. The m dependence is slightly affected by the string velocity for large enough m. Though the behavior is similar to that for 3D case studied in previous section, we see that the location of peak tends to smaller m.

Then we fix m = 0.5 and study the effect of horizon curvature. The results in four dimensional massive gravity are shown in Fig. 9. Comparing the left plots in Figs. 4 and 9, we see that in massive gravity, the effect of horizon curvature on the velocity dependent action growth is similar to that in



Fig. 10 Action growth v.s. string velocity in massive AdS black hole with m = 0.5. From left to right, the dimension is 5, 6 and 10. In all cases, we have set the black hole mass $m_0 = 2$



Fig. 11 Action growth v.s. graviton mass for massive AdS black hole From left to right, the dimension is 5, 6 and 10. In all cases, we have set the black hole mass $m_0 = 2$ and the string speed is v = 0.96

Einstein gravity. As in the AdS case, the maximal value for stationary string with k = -1 is the largest, the reason of which has been stated below Eq. (21). There also exists a intersection. As the dimension increases (see Fig. 10), the velocity dependent action growth is more gentler. One new feature in massive gravity is that in all cases, the action growth in light speed limit becomes non-vanished. Comparing with that in AdS case, the intersection in massive case for different curvatures could separate in lower dimension.

In the right plot of Fig. 9, we show the effect of k on the graviton mass dependence, which is more significant for small m than for large m. It also shows a peak at certain critical m_c as in three dimensional case. Here the location value of m for the peak decreases as k increases. Furthermore, in Fig. 11 we show the graviton mass dependence for higher dimensions. As the dimension increases, m for the location of peak decreases. Then for k = 1, the peak shows at m = 0, meaning the action grow monotonically decreases as m increases(see the middle plot for six dimension), which is also explicit in the ten dimensional case. Further increasing the dimension, the action grow could also become monotonically decreasing function of m for the massive black hole with k = -1 and k = 0. This is a new phenomena.

5 Summary

We studied the complexity growth in the dynamical system with a Wilson line operator, which is holographically dual to the massive black holes with a probe string. We focused on the Nambu–Goto action growth and employed the CA conjecture to explore the effect of string on the complexity growth in a boundary gauge theory with momentum relaxation. We mainly analyzed the effect of horizon curvatures, the graviton mass and the dimension on the velocity dependent complexity growth. Our study is mainly presented in numerical way accompanying with some analytic estimation. The results are summarized as follows.

In three dimension, the maximal complexity growth appears when the string is motionless, and as the graviton mass increases, the maximal value becomes smaller. As the string moves faster, the action growth becomes smaller. When the string moves with light speed, the action growth in massive BTZ black hole will not vanish which is different from that in BTZ black hole. In the vicinity of the light speed, as the graviton mass increases, the action growth first increases and then decreases. Moreover, the velocity dependence is significant for small graviton mass, while it is slight for large *m*. It means that in the vicinity of light speed, the graviton mass suppresses the velocity dependence of the action growth, which is very different from the effect of BTZ black hole mass that enhances it.

In higher dimensions, we could study the effect of horizon curvatures k. We first studied the effect of k on the velocity dependent action growth. Our results shows that the maximal value for the stationary string for k = -1 is the largest, then for k = 0, the value for k = 1 is the smallest. There is a intersection in the velocity dependence curves for different

k. As the dimension increases, the velocity dependent action growth is more gentler. Comparing with AdS black hole, in massive black hole, the action growth in light speed limit becomes non-vanishing with different *k*, and the intersection for different curvatures could separate in lower dimensions.

We then studied the effect of k on the graviton mass dependence. It is more significant for small m than for large m. It also shows a peak at certain graviton mass as in three dimensional case, and the location value of the peak decreases as k increases. As the dimension increases, the critical graviton mass for the peak decreases. The peak for k = 1 in high enough dimension could first appears at m = 0, meaning the action growth turns to monotonically decrease as m increases. Then further increasing the dimension, the action growth could also become monotonically decreasing function of m for the massive black hole with k = -1 and k = 0.

Inspired by Lloyd's state on the quantum complexity growth rate [72], the authors of [30] addressed an analogous "Lloyd bound" via CA conjecture as

$$\frac{dS}{dt} \le \frac{2M}{\pi},\tag{22}$$

where *S* is the total action and *M* is the total mass or energy of the system. In the previous literatures [32,33] where the action consists of Einstein–Hilbert term and boundary term in massive gravity, it was shown that the bound was saturated. In our work with a probe string, the total action consists of Einstein–Hilbert term, boundary term and the NG term, while *M* contain the contributions of the black hole mass and the mass of string. Then the bound could be satisfied because the length of string is infinity stretching to the infinity of the space. It is noticed that in CA conjecture, the bound (22) may not be always satisfied, see [43,73–77] as examples for the violated cases.

Acknowledgements We appreciate Dmitry S. Ageev and Koichi Nagasaki for helpful corresponding. This work is supported by the Natural Science Foundation of China (nos. 11705161 and 11775036) and Fok Ying Tung Education Foundation (no. 171006).

Data Availability Statement This manuscript has no associated data or the data will not be deposited. [Authors' comment: This study is purely theoretical, and thus does not yield associated experimental data.]

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Funded by SCOAP³.

References

- J.M. Maldacena, The Large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2, 231 (1998). arXiv:hep-th/9711200
- S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov, A.M. Polyakov, Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory. Phys. Lett. B 428, 105 (1998). arXiv:hep-th/9802109
- 3. E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2, 253 (1998). arXiv:hep-th/9802150
- T. Takayanagi, Entanglement entropy from a holographic viewpoint. Class. Quantum Gravity 29, 153001 (2012). arXiv:1204.2450 [gr-qc]
- V.E. Hubeny, M. Rangamani, T. Takayanagi, A covariant holographic entanglement entropy proposal. JHEP 0707, 062 (2007). arXiv:0705.0016 [hep-th]
- T.J. Osborne, Hamiltonian complexity. Rep. Prog. Phys. 75, 022001 (2012). arXiv:1106.5875 [quant-ph]
- Y. Huang, S. Gharibian, Z. Landau, S.W. Shin, Quantum Hamiltonian complexity. Found. Trends Theor. Comput. Sci. 10, 159 (2015). arXiv:1401.3916 [quant-ph]
- G. Dvali, C. Gomez, D. Lust, Y. Omar, B. Richter, Universality of black hole quantum computing. Fortsch. Phys. 65(1), 1600111 (2017). arXiv:1602.06271 [quant-ph]
- B. Swingle, G. Bentsen, M. Schleier-Smith, P. Hayden, Measuring the scrambling of quantum information. Phys. Rev. A 94(4), 040302 (2016). arXiv:1602.06271 [quant-ph]
- K. Hashimoto, N. Iizuka, S. Sugishita, Time evolution of complexity in Abelian gauge theories. Phys. Rev. D 96(12), 126001 (2017). arXiv:1707.03840 [hep-th]
- J. Watrous, Quantum computational complexity. arXiv:0804.3401 [quant-ph]
- N. Bao, J. Liu, Quantum complexity and the virial theorem. JHEP 08, 144 (2018). arXiv:1804.03242 [hep-th]
- V. Vanchurin, Dual field theories of quantum computation. JHEP 06, 001 (2016). arXiv:1603.07982 [hep-th]
- S. Chapman, M.P. Heller, H. Marrochio, F. Pastawski, Toward a definition of complexity for quantum field theory states. Phys. Rev. Lett 120(12), 121602 (2018). arXiv:1707.08582 [hep-th]
- J. Jiang, J. Shan, J. Yang, Circuit complexity for free Fermion with a mass quench. Nucl. Phys. B 954, 114988 (2020). arXiv:1810.00537 [hep-th]
- J. Molina-Vilaplana, A. Del Campo, Complexity functionals and complexity growth limits in continuous MERA circuits. JHEP 08, 012 (2018). arXiv:1803.02356 [hep-th]
- A. Bhattacharyya, P. Caputa, S.R. Das, N. Kundu, M. Miyaji, T. Takayanagi, Path-integral complexity for perturbed CFTs. JHEP 07, 086 (2018). arXiv:1804.01999 [hep-th]
- M.A. Nielsen, A geometric approach to quantum circuit lower bounds. arXiv:0502070 [hep-th]
- M.A. Nielsen, M.R. Dowling, M. Gu, A.C. Doherty, Quantum computation as geometry. Science **311**, 1133 (2006). arXiv:0603161 [hep-th]
- M.R. Dowling, M.A. Nielsen, The geometry of quantum computation. Science 311, 1133 (2006). arXiv:0701004 [hep-th]
- R. Jefferson, R.C. Myers, Circuit complexity in quantum field theory. JHEP 10, 107 (2017). arXiv:1707.08570 [hep-th]
- R.Q. Yang, Y.S. An, C. Niu, C.Y. Zhang, K.Y. Kim, Principles and symmetries of complexity in quantum field theory. Eur. Phys. J. C 79(2), 109 (2019). arXiv:1803.01797 [hep-th]
- R. Khan, C. Krishnan, S. Sharma, Circuit complexity in fermionic field theory. Phys. Rev. D 98(12), 126001 (2018). arXiv:1801.07620 [hep-th]
- L. Hackl, R.C. Myers, Circuit complexity for free fermions. JHEP 07, 139 (2018). arXiv:1803.10638 [hep-th]

- D. Stanford, L. Susskind, Complexity and shock wave geometries. Phys. Rev. D 90(12), 126007 (2014). arXiv:1406.2678 [hep-th]
- L. Susskind, Entanglement is not enough. Fortsch. Phys. 64, 49 (2016). arXiv:1411.0690 [hep-th]
- L. Susskind, Y. Zhao, Switchbacks and the Bridge to Nowhere. arXiv:1408.2823 [hep-th]
- L. Susskind, Computational complexity and black hole horizons. Fortsch. Phys. 64, 24 (2016). Addendum: Fortsch. Phys. 64, 44 (2016). arXiv:1403.5695 [hep-th]. arXiv:1402.5674 [hep-th]]
- L. Susskind, Three lectures on complexity and black holes. arXiv:1810.11563 [hep-th]
- A.R. Brown, D.A. Roberts, L. Susskind, B. Swingle, Y. Zhao, Holographic complexity equals bulk action? Phys. Rev. Lett. 116(19), 191301 (2016). arXiv:1509.07876 [hep-th]
- A.R. Brown, D.A. Roberts, L. Susskind, B. Swingle, Y. Zhao, Complexity, action, and black holes. Phys. Rev. D 93(8), 086006 (2016). arXiv:1512.04993 [hep-th]
- W.J. Pan, Y.C. Huang, Holographic complexity and action growth in massive gravities. Phys. Rev. D 95(12), 126013 (2017). arXiv:1612.03627 [hep-th]
- W.D. Guo, S.W. Wei, Y.Y. Li, Y.X. Liu, Complexity growth rates for AdS black holes in massive gravity and *f*(*R*) gravity. Eur. Phys. J. C 77(12), 904 (2017). arXiv:1703.10468 [gr-qc]
- D. Momeni, S.A. Hosseini Mansoori, R. Myrzakulov, Holographic complexity in gauge/string superconductors. Phys. Lett. B 756, 354–357 (2016). arXiv:1601.03011 [hep-th]
- S. Chapman, H. Marrochio, R.C. Myers, Complexity of formation in holography. JHEP 01, 062 (2017). arXiv:1610.08063 [hep-th]
- L. Lehner, R.C. Myers, E. Poisson, R.D. Sorkin, Gravitational action with null boundaries. Phys. Rev. D 94(8), 084046 (2016). arXiv:1609.00207 [hep-th]
- D. Carmi, R.C. Myers, P. Rath, Comments on holographic complexity. JHEP 03, 118 (2017). arXiv:1612.00433 [hep-th]
- J. Tao, P. Wang, H. Yang, Testing holographic conjectures of complexity with Born–Infeld black holes. Eur. Phys. J. C 77(12), 817 (2017). arXiv:1703.06297 [hep-th]
- M. Alishahiha, A.F. Astaneh, A. Naseh, M. Vahidinia, On complexity for F(R) and critical gravity. JHEP 05, 009 (2017). arXiv:1702.06796 [hep-th]
- A. Reynolds, S.F. Ross, Complexity in de Sitter Space. Class. Quantum Gravity 34(17), 175013 (2017). arXiv:1706.03788 [hep-th]
- M.M. Qaemmaqami, Complexity growth in minimal massive 3D gravity. Phys. Rev. D 97(2), 026006 (2018). arXiv:1709.05894 [hep-th]
- L. Sebastiani, L. Vanzo, S. Zerbini, Action growth for black holes in modified gravity. Phys. Rev. D 97(4), 044009 (2018). arXiv:1710.05686 [hep-th]
- J. Couch, S. Eccles, W. Fischler, M.L. Xiao, Holographic complexity and noncommutative gauge theory. JHEP 03, 108 (2018). arXiv:1710.07833 [hep-th]
- 44. B. Swingle, Y. Wang, Holographic complexity of Einstein– Maxwell–Dilaton gravity. JHEP 09, 106 (2018). arXiv:1712.09826 [hep-th]
- P.A. Cano, R.A. Hennigar, H. Marrochio, Complexity growth rate in lovelock gravity. Phys. Rev. Lett. **121**(12), 121602 (2018). arXiv:1803.02795 [hep-th]
- S. Chapman, H. Marrochio, R.C. Myers, Holographic complexity in Vaidya spacetimes. Part I. JHEP 06, 046 (2018). arXiv:1804.07410 [hep-th]
- S. Chapman, H. Marrochio, R.C. Myers, Holographic complexity in Vaidya spacetimes. Part II. JHEP 06, 114 (2018). arXiv:1805.07262 [hep-th]
- R. Auzzi, S. Baiguera, M. Grassi, G. Nardelli, N. Zenoni, Complexity and action for warped AdS black holes. JHEP 09, 013 (2018). arXiv:1806.06216 [hep-th]

- E. Yaraie, H. Ghaffarnejad, M. Farsam, Complexity growth and shock wave geometry in AdS-Maxwell-power-Yang–Mills theory. Eur. Phys. J. C 78(11), 967 (2018). arXiv:1806.07242 [gr-qc]
- M. Alishahiha, A. Faraji Astaneh, M.R. Mohammadi Mozaffar, A. Mollabashi, Complexity growth with Lifshitz scaling and hyperscaling violation. JHEP 07, 042 (2018). arXiv:1802.06740 [hep-th]
- Y.S. An, R.H. Peng, Effect of the dilaton on holographic complexity growth. Phys. Rev. D 97(6), 066022 (2018). arXiv:1801.03638 [hep-th]
- R.G. Cai, S.M. Ruan, S.J. Wang, R.Q. Yang, R.H. Peng, Action growth for AdS black holes. JHEP 09, 161 (2016). arXiv:1606.08307 [gr-qc]
- H. Babaei-Aghbolagh, K. Babaei Velni, D.M. Yekta, H. Mohammadzadeh, Holographic complexity for black branes with momentum relaxation. arXiv:2009.01340 [hep-th]
- 54. S.S. Gubser, Drag force in AdS/CFT. Phys. Rev. D 74, 126005 (2006). arXiv:hep-th/0605182
- F.J.G. Abad, M. Kulaxizi, A. Parnachev, On complexity of holographic flavors. JHEP 01, 127 (2018). arXiv:1705.08424 [hep-th]
- D.S. Ageev, I.Y. Aref'eva, Holography and nonlocal operators for the BTZ black hole with nonzero angular momentum. Teor. Mat. Fiz. 180(2), 147–161 (2014). arXiv:1402.6937 [hep-th]
- K. Nagasaki, Complexity of AdS₅ black holes with a rotating string. Phys. Rev. D 96(12), 126018 (2017). arXiv:1707.08376 [hep-th]
- K. Nagasaki, Complexity growth of rotating black holes with a probe string. Phys. Rev. D 98(12), 126014 (2018). arXiv:1807.01088 [hep-th]
- K. Nagasaki, Complexity growth for topological black holes by holographic method. Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 35(25), 2050152 (2020). arXiv:1912.03567 [hep-th]
- F.F. Santos, Rotating black hole with a probe string in Horndeski gravity. Eur. Phys. J. Plus 135(10), 810 (2020). arXiv:2005.10983 [hep-th]
- F.F. Santos, Complexity of AdS₄ black holes with a rotating string in Horndeski Gravity. arXiv:2010.10942 [hep-th]
- C. de Rham, G. Gabadadze, Generalization of the Fierz–Pauli action. Phys. Rev. D 82, 044020 (2010). arXiv:1007.0443 [hepth]
- C. de Rham, G. Gabadadze, A.J. Tolley, Resummation of massive gravity. Phys. Rev. Lett. 106, 231101 (2011). arXiv:1011.1232 [hep-th]
- 64. S.F. Hassan, R.A. Rosen, Resolving the ghost problem in nonlinear massive gravity. Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, 041101 (2012). arXiv:1106.3344 [hep-th]
- S.F. Hassan, R.A. Rosen, On non-linear actions for massive gravity. JHEP 07, 009 (2011). arXiv:1103.6055 [hep-th]
- 66. S.F. Hassan, R.A. Rosen, A. Schmidt-May, Ghost-free massive gravity with a general reference metric. JHEP 02, 026 (2012). arXiv:1109.3230 [hep-th]
- K.M. Desai, Y.H. Chu, R.A. Gruendl, W. Dluger, M. Katz, T. Wong, C.H.R. Chen, L.W. Looney, A. Hughes, E. Muller et al., Supernova remnants and star formation in the large Magellanic cloud. Astron. J. 140, 584–594 (2010). arXiv:1006.3344 [astro-ph.GA]
- C. Ludeling, F. Ruehle, C. Wieck, Non-universal anomalies in heterotic string constructions. Phys. Rev. D 85, 106010 (2012). arXiv:1203.5789 [hep-th]
- M. Blake, D. Tong, Universal resistivity from holographic massive gravity. Phys. Rev. D 88(10), 106004 (2013). arXiv:1308.4970 [hep-th]
- D. Vegh, Holography without translational symmetry. arXiv:1301.0537 [hep-th]
- R.G. Cai, Y.P. Hu, Q.Y. Pan, Y.L. Zhang, Thermodynamics of black holes in massive gravity. Phys. Rev. D 91(2), 024032 (2015). arXiv:1409.2369 [hep-th]
- 72. S. Lloyd, Physical limits to computation. Nature **406**, 1047–1054 (2000)

- D. Carmi, S. Chapman, H. Marrochio, R.C. Myers, S. Sugishita, On the time dependence of holographic complexity. JHEP 11, 188 (2017). arXiv:1709.10184 [hep-th]
- 74. R.Q. Yang, C. Niu, C.Y. Zhang, K.Y. Kim, Comparison of holographic and field theoretic complexities for time dependent thermofield double states. JHEP **02**, 082 (2018). arXiv:1710.00600 [hep-th]
- 75. M. Moosa, Evolution of complexity following a global quench. JHEP 03, 031 (2018). arXiv:1711.02668 [hep-th]
- D.S. Ageev, I.Y. Aref'eva, A.A. Bagrov, M.I. Katsnelson, Holographic local quench and effective complexity. JHEP 08, 071 (2018). arXiv:1803.11162 [hep-th]
- 77. D. Ageev, Holographic complexity of local quench at finite temperature. Phys. Rev. D **100**(12), 126005 (2019). arXiv:1902.03632 [hep-th]